FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAR 10 1995

MAR 10 1773

CLERK, SUPPLIME COUF

JESSE WATERS, JR.,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 85,267 1DCA CASE NO. 94-104

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

P. DOUGLAS BRINKMEYER
FLA. BAR NO. 197890
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
CHIEF, APPELLATE DIVISION
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
SUITE 401
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JESSE WATERS, JR.,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 85,267 1DCA CASE NO. 94-104

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the appellant below and will be referred to as petitioner in this brief. The state will be referred to as respondent or the state.

The one volume record on appeal will be designated as "R" followed by the appropriate page number, in parentheses.

Citations to the transcripts will be as "T" followed by the appropriate page number, in parentheses.

The First District Court of Appeal, in <u>Waters v. State</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly D489 (Fla. 1st DCA February 24, 1995), ruled against petitioner and affirmed the lower court's sentence entered upon a revocation of probation, but certified a question of great public importance. That opinion is attached hereto as an appendix. Timely notice of discretionary review was filed on March 1, 1995.

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

By information filed April 2, 1991, petitioner was charged with purchase of cocaine (R 7). On June 4, 1991, upon a plea of no contest (R 34-35) petitioner was placed on community control for one year, followed by 10 years probation (R 43-48).

On October 26, 1993, an affidavit for violation of probation was filed, alleging several violations (R 53-54).

Petitioner was in custody on November 8, 1993 (R 63). On November 16, 1993, petitioner admitted the violations (T 24).

On December 20, 1993, petitioner's probation was revoked (R 78). He was adjudicated guilty and sentenced to a 3 1/2 year prison sentence, with credit for 55 days served, to be followed by 10 years of probation (R 69-74; 79-81; T 7-8).

On January 19, 1994, a timely notice of appeal was filed (R 95), and the Public Defender of the Second Judicial Circuit was designated to represent petitioner.

On appeal, petitioner argued that his new split sentence of 3 1/2 years in prison, plus 10 years probation, was excessive, because he had already been sentenced in 1991 to community control for one year, followed by 10 years probation. Respondent agreed that this case would be controlled by this Court's disposition of the certified question in State v.Summers, 642 So. 2d 742 (Fla. 1994).

The lower tribunal affirmed, but certified the question whether petitioner was entitled to credit for the time spent on community control and probation against his new split sentence of prison and probation. Appendix.

Timely notice of discretionary review was filed on March 1, 1995.

III SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court must answer the certified question in the affirmative.

A court cannot impose a sentence greater than the statutory maximum for the crime. The statutory maximum for purchase of cocaine is 15 years. Petitioner originally received one year community control, followed by 10 years probation. Then he received 3 1/2 years in prison, followed by another 10 years probation. The total of these sanctions exceeds the statutory maximum.

The lower tribunal seems to have made a distinction between previous time spent on community control and previous time spent on probation. This is a distinction without a difference. Since credit for time spent on probation must be given, time spent on community control, being a more restrictive limitation on liberty, must also be given.

This Court has already decided this issue. This Court has held that credit must be given for time served on probation, when imposing another probation order after a violation. This Court has also held that credit must be given for time served on community control and probation, when imposing another probation order after a violation. Otherwise, the defendant is subject to supervision long after the statutory maximum for the crime.

The decisions of other appellate courts are in accord with petitioner's position.

This Court must answer the certified question in the affirmative, and reverse the new 10 year probation order.

IV ARGUMENT

A TRIAL COURT MUST, UPON REVOCATION OF PROBATION FOLLOWING COMPLETION OF COMMUNITY CONTROL, CREDIT TIME PREVIOUSLY SERVED ON PROBATION AND COMMUNITY CONTROL TO ANY NEWLY IMPOSED TERM OF IMPRISONMENT AND PROBATION FOR THE SAME OFFENSE, SO THAT THE TOTAL PERIOD OF COMMUNITY CONTROL, PROBATION, AND IMPRISONMENT ALREADY SERVED AND TO BE SERVED DOES NOT EXCEED THE STATUTORY MAXIMUM FOR A SINGLE OFFENSE.

This Court must answer the certified question in the affirmative.

Petitioner originally received one year community control, followed by 10 years probation, on June 4, 1991 (R 43-48). On December 20, 1993, petitioner's probation was revoked (R 58). He was adjudicated guilty and sentenced to 3 1/2 years in prison, with credit for 55 days served, to be followed by 10 years of probation (R 69-74; 79-81; T 7-8).

The total of these sanctions exceeds the statutory maximum. Purchase of cocaine is a second degree felony, with a maximum 15 year sentence. §§775.082(3)(c), 893.13(1)(a)1., Fla. Stat. Petitioner's new sentence is illegal when added to the 11 year term of the original sentence, which commenced on June 4, 1991 (R 43-48).

Under the new order, petitioner will be in prison or on probation until June 20, 2007, a period of 16 years from the original sentencing date. See <u>Blackburn v. State</u>, 468 So. 2d 517 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985); <u>Carter v. State</u>, 606 So. 2d 680 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1992); <u>Ogden v. State</u>, 605 So. 2d 155 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992); and <u>Teasley v. State</u>, 610 So. 2d 26 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1992), review denied, 618 So. 2d 1370 (Fla. 1993).

The lower tribunal had previously held in Moore v. State, 623 So. 2d 795 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993), that:

When probation is revoked, the trial court can sentence up to the maximum period of incarceration permitted by statute. See, §948.06(1), Fla. Stat. (1989). However, if probation is reinstated, as it was in this case, the combined periods of probation cannot exceed the maximum incarcerative period permitted by statute for the underlying offense.

Id. at 797.

The Second District, in an en banc opinion, agreed with this principle, but certified the question. <u>Summers v. State</u>, 625 So. 2d 876 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1993). Petitioner submits that this Court has already decided the issue in <u>State v. Summers</u>, 642 So. 2d 742 (Fla. 1994):

Accordingly, we approve the decision below, and hold that upon a revocation of probation credit must be given for time previously served on probation toward any newly-imposed probationary term for the same offense, when necessary to ensure that the total term of probation does not exceed the statutory maximum for that offense.

Id. at 744.

The only difference between <u>State v. Summers</u> and the instant case is that petitioner originally received community control and probation, while Mr. Summers received only probation. But that is a distinction without a difference, since time spent on community control, just like time on probation, must count toward the total sanction imposed in a case. Moreover, time spent on community control must count toward the total sanction, since that is a more restrictive

penalty than probation. Fraser v. State, 602 So. 2d 1299 (Fla. 1992).

Even if this Court did not decide this precise issue in State v. Summers, it did so in another recent case. In Roundtree v. State, 637 So. 2d 325 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994), the defendant was sentenced to another probationary term which followed his original probationary term. The Fourth District did say, however, that it could see "no reason for not applying the same reasoning [of State v. Summers] when combining time spent on community control with a subsequent probation." Id. at 326. The court certified the following question:

Must a trial court, upon revocation of probation (and/or community control), credit prior time served on probation (and/or community control) toward a newly imposed probationary term to that the total probationary term served and to be served does not exceed the maximum sentence allowed by law?

Id. at 326. This is almost identical to the question certified in the instant case.

This Court approved the Fourth District decision, and held on authority of <u>State v. Summers</u> that the district court decision in <u>Roundtree</u> was consistent with <u>State v. Summers</u>.

<u>State v. Roundtree</u>, 644 So. 2d 1358 (Fla. 1994).

The Fifth District has recognized, in <u>Phillips v. State</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly D485 (Fla. 5th DCA February 24, 1995) 1,

- 8 -

 $^{^{1}}$ Coincidentally, it was decided the dame day as petitioner's appeal.

that the holding of <u>State v. Summers</u>, requiring credit for time spent on probation, was extended by this Court in <u>State v.</u>
Roundtree to time spent on community control.

In <u>Jost v. State</u>, 631 So. 2d 1131 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994), as in <u>State v. Roundtree</u>, the appellate court granted relief to the defendant, but certified the following question to this Court:

Must a trial court, upon revocation of probation, credit previous time served on probation to any newly imposed term of community control and probation so that the total period of community control and probation does not exceed the statutory maximum for a single offense?

<u>Id.</u> at 1132. In <u>Jost</u>, the state conceded that the defendant's sentence was illegal, and so as a result neither party in the case pursued a ruling from this Court, although the question was certified.²

In <u>Straughan v. State</u>, 636 So. 2d 845 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994), the Fifth District dealt with a situation like petitioner's where the defendant received both probation and community control sentences, the total of which exceeded the statutorily provided maximum sentence. The court held that the two forms of punishment, taken together, cannot exceed a statutory

 $^{^2}$ The state in the instant case conceded below that the issue had been decided by the lower tribunal in <u>Moore</u>, supra, and would be controlled by this Court's decision in <u>State v</u>. Summers.

sentence maximum. Again, the question was certified, and the state did not seek further review by this Court.

Likewise, in Ogden v. State, supra, the court found that community control, while more severe than probation, was analogous to probation "in that a defendant is not sentenced to probation or community control, but placed on probation or community control in lieu of being sentenced [to prison]." Id. at 159. The court held that the trial court erred when it placed the defendant on probationary and community control terms which exceeded the statutorily mandated maximum sentence.

The lower tribunal stated its position that "community control and probation should not be treated alike" in <u>Eanes v. State</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D2427 (Fla. 1st DCA November 18, 1994), review pending, case no. 84,787. That position is contrary to the holdings of every other appellate court which has considered the question. Moreover, it is contrary to this Court's decision in State v. Roundtree, supra.³

The lower tribunal's reliance on <u>Bragg v. State</u>, 644 So. 2d 586 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994), to affirm the instant case, is equally mystifying. In <u>Bragg</u>, Judge Foster, much like in the

³At the time the lower tribunal made that statement, it acknowledged conflict with the Fifth District's <u>Jost</u> and <u>Straughn</u> decisions, and the Fourth District's <u>Roundtree</u> decision, but noted that <u>Roundtree</u> was pending review. This Court decided <u>State v. Roundtree</u> five days later. One wonders why the lower tribunal affirmed the instant case on authority of <u>Eanes</u>, and continued to adhere to its position, since <u>Eanes</u> was clearly wrongly decided in light of <u>State v. Roundtree</u>.

instant case, placed the defendant on probation with some county jail time to serve, and he spent two years, nine months, and ten days under supervision. When he violated probation, he received a new split sentence of 4 1/2 years in prison followed by another term of eight years probation.

The undersigned argued the new split sentence was excessive under <u>State v. Summers</u>, supra, because the total sanction imposed exceeded the statutory maximum of 15 years for a second degree felony. The lower tribunal agreed that the statutory maximum had been exceeded by three months and ten days.

Since the lower tribunal in <u>Bragg reversed</u> a new split sentence, one may wonder why the lower tribunal cited it as authority for affirmance in the instant case. Since <u>Bragg</u> dealt with a prior term of probation only, and not community control, one may wonder why the lower tribunal cited it at all in the instant case.

A ruling from this Court which does not grant relief to the petitioner from his excessive sentences would create an absurd result, as well as a precedent which would foster further miscarriages of justice. Community control is certainly not as restrictive as prison. but it is more restrictive than probation. Community control is not sufficiently different from probation to warrant the denial of credit for time served on one toward a sentence of the other.

The legislature never intended the result achieved by the lower court and the First District Court of Appeal in this

case. Probation and community control, whether taken together or alone, were not intended to run on <u>ad infinitum</u>. That was the rationale for this Court's decision in <u>State v. Summers</u>, supra.

If the decision in this case is upheld by this Court, the maximum sentence for a second degree felony would no longer be 15 years. Rather, the maximum sentence would be whatever terms of probation, community control, and prison the judge chose to impose. A defendant could serve almost 15 years of probation, almost two years of community control, and finally 15 years of prison.

The First District erred when it ruled in this matter that such a result was appropriate. Rather, the holdings of the other districts, cited to in this brief, as well as the decisions of this Court in State v. Summers and <a href="State v. Summers

This Court must answer the certified question in the affirmative, especially because it already has in <u>State v. Summers</u> and <u>State v. Roundtree</u>, and reverse the new 10 year probation order because it is excessive.

V CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing arguments and authorities, the petitioner respectfully requests that excessive new probation order be vacated.

Respectfully submitted,

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

P. DOUGLAS BRINKMEYER
Assistant Public Defender
Chief, Appellate Division
Florida Bar No. 197890
Leon County Courthouse
Suite 401

301 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER