FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAR 31 1995

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA,

CLERK, SUBMENTE COURT
By Chief Decuty Clerk

JESSE WATERS, JR.,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 85,267

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF/CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0325791

THOMAS CRAPPS
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0878928

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, Jesse Waters, Jr., defendant and appellant below, will be referred to herein as "Petitioner." Respondent, the State of Florida, will be referred to herein as "the State." References to the record on appeal will be by the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number. This Court currently has for review a case involving the same issue as in the instant case. Eanes v. State, No. 84,787 (Fla. 1995).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State is in substantial agreement with the Petitioner's version of the case and facts.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Section 921.161, Florida Statutes (1991), and Florida case law does not entitle the petitioner to credit for time that he previously served on community control against a newly imposed sentence of incarceration and probation.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER A TRIAL COURT, MUST UPON REVOCATION OF FOLLOWING COMPLETION COMMUNITY PROBATION PREVIOUSLY SERVED CREDIT TIME CONTROL, AND COMMUNITY CONTROL TO ANY PROBATION IMPOSED TERM OF IMPRISONMENT AND PROBATION FOR THE THE TOTAL PERIOD SO THAT OFFENSE, IMPRISONMENT CONTROL, PROBATION, AND COMMUNITY ALREADY SERVED AND TO BE SERVED DOES NOT EXCEED THE STATUTORY MAXIMUM FOR A SINGLE OFFENSE?

The petitioner argues that the trial court erred by not giving him credit for time that he had previously served on community control and probation against his newly imposed sentence of incarceration, in order to insure that his probation and punishment did not exceed the statutory maximum. The petitioner contends that the district court of appeal's distinction between time previously spent on probation and time previously spent on is a distinction without а difference. community control Consequently, the petitioner concludes that he is entitled to credit for the year that he spent on community control against his newly imposed sentence for 10 years of probation.

The petitioner's argument is without merit because he is not entitled to credit where his sentence does not exceed the statutory maximum. Because community control is not the functional equivalent of probation, the petitioner is not entitled to receive credit for time he previously spent on community control against his new probation sentence. Thus, this Court should affirm the district court's decision.

The issue in the instant case is the First District Court of Appeal's certified question in Waters v. State, 20 Fla. L. Weekly D489 (Fla. 1st DCA Feb. 24, 1995). This Court has discretionary jurisdiction pursuant to article V, section 3(b)(4) of the Florida Constitution. The issue of whether the petitioner is entitled to credit for time he previously served on community control against his newly imposed probationary sentence raises a legal question. Because this issue raises a legal question, the appropriate standard of review is de novo. Padavano, Phillip J., Florida Appellate Practice, §5.4(B)(1993 ed.)

Section 948.06(1), Florida Statutes (1991), provides that a trial court, which revokes a sentence of probation or community control, may "impose any sentence which it might have originally imposed before placing the probationer or offender on probation or into community control." If the probationer has already served part of his or her sentence in jail, the trial court must give the probationer credit for time previously served while incarcerated, but not for the time spent on probation. § 948.06(2), Fla. Stat. (1993); State v. Holmes, 360 So. 2d 380, 383 (Fla. 1978); Priest v. State, 603 So. 2d 141 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992). However, if the trial court decides to impose further probation, it must credit the probationer with the previous time spent on probation. State v. Summers, 642 So. 2d 742 (Fla. 1994). In other words, if upon

¹ The 1991 version of the statute applies in this case because the trial court originally placed the Petitioner on community control and probation on June 4, 1991. (R 43-48).

revocation of probation, the trial court reinstates probation, "the combined periods of probation cannot exceed the maximum incarcerative period permitted by statute for the underlying offense." Moore v. State, 623 So. 2d 795, 797 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993). The same reasoning requires that upon revocation of community control, an offender must be allowed credit for that portion of community control he or she successfully completed prior to the violation. Lastinger v. State, 629 So. 2d 324 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993).

Section 948.06(1) authorizes a trial court to sentence a probation or community control violator to any term of imprisonment permitted by the sentencing statute regardless of whether the current term of imprisonment and the prior terms of probation or community control exceed the original statutory maximum. For instance, a third-degree felon who completes four years of a five-year probationary term and then violates his probation, could be sentenced to five years incarceration even though the five and four year terms exceed the five-year term authorized for a third-degree felony.

The law does not support the petitioner's position that a trial court must credit prior time served on community control against the newly imposed probationary sentence in order to avoid exceeding the statutory maximum sentence. Likewise, it does not mean that when a trial court sentences an offender to prison upon revocation of community control, that the trial court must credit

prior time served in community control against the newly imposed incarcerative sentence. Community control is not the functional equivalent of jail for the purpose of credit for time served. Swain v. State, 553 So. 2d 1331, 1333 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989). Nor is community control the functional equivalent of Williams v. State, 629 So. 2d 174, 176 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993). upon revocation of a defendant's probationary sentence, which included a previous sentence for community control, a trial court can impose probation without giving credit for time previously served on the community control. Moreover, upon revocation of a defendant's community control sentence, the trial court can impose incarcerative sentence without giving credit for an Swain, 553 previously served on community control or probation. So. 2d at 1333; § 948.06(2).

In sum, the foregoing rules of law show that: 1) a defendant is entitled to credit for time previously served while incarcerated against a newly imposed incarceration sentence; 2) a defendant is entitled to credit for time previously served on probation against a newly imposed probationary sentence if needed to avoid giving a sentence which exceeds the statutory maximum sentence; and 3) a defendant is entitled to credit for time previously served on community control against a newly imposed community control sentence if needed to avoid giving a sentence which exceeds the statutory maximum sentence. Thus, it is clear that a defendant is entitled to receive credit against his or her

newly imposed sentence for "like things" in instances where the sentence may exceed the statutory maximum.

Applying these rules of law to the facts in the instant case, it is clear that the district court correctly held that the petitioner was not entitled to credit for time he previously served on community control against his newly imposed sentence for probation. First, the record shows that the petitioner pled nolo contendere to violating section 893.13, Florida Statutes (1991), the purchase of cocaine, a second-degree felony which carries a maximum sentence of 15 years. (R 34). Second, the record shows that the trial court placed the petitioner on community control for one year, followed by 10 years on probation. (R 43-48). Third, the record shows that after serving his one year on community control and approximately one year and five months of his 10 year probationary sentence, the petitioner violated his probation. (R 53-54). Fourth, the record shows that upon revoking the petitioner's probation, the trial court sentenced the petitioner to 3½ years incarceration with credit for 55 days the petitioner had already served to be followed by 10 years of probation. Because community control is not the functional equivalent of probation, the trial court properly denied the petitioner credit for the one year he served on community control. Moreover, the record shows that the trial court properly denied the petitioner credit for the time he previously served on probation because the sentence for 10 years of probation when

taken in conjunction with the 1 year and 5 months of probation, which the petitioner had already served, did not exceed the statutory limit of 15 years. Thus, the trial court properly sentenced the petitioner in the instant case.

The petitioner's contention that this Court may have already answered the instant case's certified question adversely to the State's position in State v. Summers, 642 So. 2d 742 (Fla. 1994), and State v. Roundtree, 644 So. 2d 1358 (Fla. 1994), is without In Summers, this Court addressed the Second District Court of Appeal's certified question of whether a trial court, upon revocation of probation, must credit previous time served on probation toward any newly-imposed term of probation so that the total probationary term is subject to the statutory maximum for a single offense. Summers, 642 So. 2d at 743 (quoting Summers v. State, 625 So. 2d 876, 880 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993)). This Court reasoned that "to treat a term of probation like a 'sentence' or term of incarceration in this context could result in probation being extended ad infinitum beyond the statutory maximum each time Summers, 642 So. 2d at 744. This Court probation is revoked." found that the "the legislature did not intend to allow such 'ad infinitum' extensions of a probationary term that is otherwise subject to a statutory maximum." Id. at 744. Thus, this Court held that

upon revocation of probation credit must be given for time previously served on probation toward any newly imposed probationary term for

the same offense, when necessary to ensure that the total term of probation does not exceed the statutory maximum for that offense.

Id.

In State v. Roundtree, 644 So. 2d 1358, 1359 (Fla. 1994), this Court addressed Fourth District Court of Appeal's certified question of whether a trial court, upon revocation of probation (and/or community control), must credit prior time served on probation (and/or community control) toward a newly imposed probationary term so that the total probationary term served and to be served does not exceed the maximum sentence allowed by law. Roundtree, 644 So. 2d at 1358-59 (quoting Roundtree v. State, 637 So. 2d 325, 326 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993)). This Court held that "[w]e recently answered the certified question in State v. Summers, 642 So. 2d 742 (Fla. 1994). Because the decision under review is in harmony with our decision in Summers, we approve it." Roundtree, 644 So. 2d at 1359. Turning to the district court of appeal's decision in Roundtree, the opinion shows that the district court held that

state acknowledges that Appellant entitled to a credit for the time previously spent on probation because the total time on probation, by combining the probation the violation the served prior to with probationary exceeds subsequent term, statutory maximum. Additionally, we can discern no reason for not applying the same reasoning when combining time spent on community control with a subsequent probation.

Roundtree, 637 So. 2d at 326 (citations omitted). Reading the district court's decision in Roundtree in light of this Court's decision in Summers, the law is clear that a trial court must give a defendant credit for time he or she had previously served on probation against a newly imposed probationary sentence in order to avoid exceeding the statutory maximum. Despite the broad language in Roundtree, the holding in Summers does not stand for the proposition that a defendant is entitled to receive credit for time he or she had previously served on community control against a newly imposed probationary sentence. Thus, it is clear that this Court has not previously answered the narrow question that is presented by the instant case. ²

Finally, the State recognizes that in <u>Fraser v. State</u>, 602 So. 2d 1299 (Fla. 1992), this Court addressed whether section 921.161, Florida Statutes (1985), required that a defendant receive credit for time that he spent on community control against a newly imposed sentence of incarceration. <u>Id</u>. at 1300. The facts in <u>Fraser</u> show that the trial court gave the defendant a downward departure sentence without providing contemporaneous written reasons. <u>Id</u>. at 1299. The State appealed the departure sentence, and the district court reversed the sentence. <u>Id</u>. at 1300. However, the district court certified the question of whether

This Court currently has for review <u>Eanes v. State</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D2427 (Fla. 1st DCA Nov. 18, 1994), which raises the same issue as in the instant case. <u>Eanes v. State</u>, No. 84,787 (Fla. 1995).

section 921.161 required that the defendant receive credit for the time he spent on community control against his newly imposed This Court found that the sentence of incarceration. Id. defendant in Fraser was successfully completing his community control sentence when informed "through no fault of his own" that illegal court had imposed an sentence. Id. Consequently, this Court reasoned that "it would be unfair and inequitable to penalize him for a clerical mistake for which he was not responsible." Id. Thus, this Court held that under the facts in Fraser the law entitled the defendant for credit he served on community control against his incarceration sentence.

This Court's decision in <u>Fraser</u>, however, is not applicable to the facts in the instant case. Unlike <u>Fraser</u>, the facts in the instant case do not show that the petitioner was serving a sentence which later turned out to be unlawful. Rather, the record shows that the trial court imposed the new sentence of incarceration and probation after revoking the petitioner's probation. (R 78-81). These distinguishing facts show that it would not be unfair or inequitable to penalize the petitioner for his violation of probation by not crediting his time spent on community control against his new incarceration or probationary sentence. Thus, it is clear that the rule of law developed in Fraser is not applicable to the facts in the instant case.

Based on the foregoing analysis, it is clear that the district court properly denied the petitioner credit for time that he served on community control against his newly imposed sentence of incarceration and probation. Thus, this Court should affirm the district court's decision below, and answer the certified question in the negative.

CONCLUSION

Based on the above cited legal authorities, the Respondent respectfully requests this Honorable Court to affirm the judgment rendered in this case, and to answer the certified question in the negative.